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In the sketch entitled, Taylor County Historical Sketch, H.O. Ruesch wrote:72

Henry Corwith of Chicago made the first entry on government land in the territory now em-
braced by Taylor County on June 1, 1867. E. L. Urquhart settled on land in the Taylor County
region in August 1870, remaining for a short time only, after having cruised timber and camped
in the neighborhood of what later became the City of Medford.  Mr. Urquhart did, however, re-
turn to Taylor County to become a permanent resident, serving on the County Board of Super-
visors in 1878 and as Sheriff of the County in 1880 and 1881. A. E. Harder is recognized as the
first permanent settler of the County, establishing himself in December 1872 on the north half
of the northeast quarter of section 34, township 31 north of range 1 east. This location is now
within the City of Medford. Pat Mullaloy and C. W. Norton came to the Taylor County region
in 1873 for the purpose of furnishing ties for the Wisconsin Central Railroad Company. The
depot of the Wisconsin Central Railroad Company was the first frame building, erected in Sep-
tember 1873 in what later became Medford. King and McIntyre opened the first store in this
region in 1874.

Ruesh wrote, “On March 4, 1875, Taylor County was set off from parts of Clark, Marathon, Chippewa and Lin-
coln Counties. . . .”73 He said, “The County is 42 miles long and 24 miles wide and it has an area of 986.23
square miles.”74 Ruesh also wrote:75

Towns, Villages and Cities. The 22 towns in Taylor County with their dates of organization
are: Medford, organized by the act organizing the county 1875; Chelsea, Little Black and West-
boro, 1875; Deer Creek, 1880; Browning, Greenwood, Grover, Pline Lake (changed to Holway),
1895; and Rib Lake, 1885; Molitor, 1886; Cleveland, 1896; Aurora (vacated, 1898 and recreated,
1899) and Hammel, 1897; McKinley, 1902; Goodrich, 1903; Maplehurst and Roosevelt, 1905;
Taft, 1909; Ford, 1917; Pershing, 1919 and Jump River, 1923.

There are four villages and one city in Taylor County. The villages with their dates of incorpo-
ration are Rib Lake, 1902; Gilman, 1914; Lublin, 1915; and Stetsonville in 1889. Medford, a
fourth-class city, was incorporated in 1889.

The following is a portion of the Early History of Taylor County, Wisconsin.76

This county contains twenty-seven townships, of which sixty-five per cent is covered with heavy
timber, fifteen per cent prairie and the balance marsh. From the center of the county numerous
streams run in various directions. On the southern slope, they flow into Black river; on the east-
ern into the Wisconsin; on the western, into the Chippewa river. The county has many excellent
water-powers. The timber on the bottom lands is principally white pine, of excellent quality;
that on the ridges is mainly sugar maple, butternut, oak, elm, and black birch. The soil of much
of the pine land is poor, being mostly sand and gravel; that of the heavy timber land is a heavy
black loam, with clay sub-soil. Much of the marsh land is well adapted to cranberry culture,
and is well stocked with vines. There are numerous good streams, well suited to the driving of
logs. The northwestern part of the county is well supplied with lakes, in which are found bass,

72 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, Taylor County Historical Sketch: Early Settlement, H.O. Rusesch, County Clerk, comp.

(n.p.: Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, n.d.), p. 2.

73 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, p. 2.

74 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, p. 2.

75 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, pp. 5-6.

76 Early History of Taylor County, Wisconsin, Copied from the Records of the Wisconsin Land Commission (Medford, Wisconsin:

Star News, n.d.), n. pag.
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pike, pickerel and muskellunge.

The amount of cultivated land is small, on account of the shortness of the time since the county
was first settled, the principal settlements being homesteads located along each side of the Wis-
consin Central Railroad. The principal exports are pine saw-logs, lumber and shingles.

The following is “Indian History of Taylor County.”77

The Indians of Taylor County were chiefly of the chippewa stock. Their headquarters were at
Madelaine Island, thence they spread southward and westward occupying the lake region, hunt-
ing and trapping for furs to sell to the white men. The first white men were Indian traders, most
of their names have vanished. They had posts at Lac du Flambeau, Lac Court Creilles, and on
the Chippewa River. Then came the lumbermen and after them the farmers.

Most of the Indians that lived near Lublin came from Kansas. In the early days they lived like
regular Indians, but later on, they lived just as the white people did.
The Indian Children were afraid of the white people. Many times their fathers and mothers
would eat lunch with their white friends while their children would not come in the house. They
would make a fire back of the house and make their own lunch. The Indian women used to go
on ponies to Thorp, to buy their provisions. They were dressed in bright blue dresses and wore
moccasins.

In winter they covered themselves with heavy blankets, and they would have nothing on their
heads. They always used to carry their papooses on their backs. Some of the Indian women
smoked pipes with long stems. The Indians got most of their clothing from Antigo, because
they could not get their kind of clothing anywhere else. On some occasions the Indians would
paint their faces and their finger nails with various bright colors.

Each Indian received an amount of money from the government every three months. The older ones received
more while the younger ones received less. So when the person had [sic] the post office, the government sent
the checks to him and he would give them out to the Indians. The Indians had to put thumb marks on the checks
and the post office keeper would sign it for them because the Indians could not write. Each Indian had two
names, the American name and the Indian name. The government knew the Indians by their Indian names. The
government sent the list of names to the postmaster so that he would know to whom he should give the checks.

The Indians lived five miles from Lublin. They were friendly. Many times the women brought
their babies in wooden cradles, easy enough for a woman to carry. It usually was soft. The colors
were odd and around the cradle were bells, so that when the cradle was moved the bells jingled.
The babies seldom cried.

The squaws wore moccasins which were so soft that when they took a step you couldn’t hear
them. They had dark faces and coal black hair which was always braided.

One day a white man’s cow jumped over the fence and got into the Indian’s farm, perhaps be-
cause there was clover. The lady noticed that her cow was astray so she went over after her.
The Indian lady, who saw this, was drunk. She took her gun and went toward the land and the
cow. The white lady was afraid and ran to escape. The squaw was so drunk that she couldn’t
stand on her feet and fell down. The lady had a good chance to escape and never tried to get in

77 John G. Wrys, “Indian History of Taylor County,” in Dedication to the 8th grade of Taylor County of 1923, the county officials

and The Taylor county Leader all of whom helped to furnish information for this booklet (n.p.: n.p., n.d.) n. pag.



their way again.

The Indian inhabitants of Polley, that can be remembered living here were Paul Whitefish and
his wife. They would come to town every week to buy groceries at the same time offering
amusement for the children.

The Indians only came to Medford to trade or hold meetings. They had a corn dance north of
the city, also held meetings south of the city where the Black River, Little Black River, and Cor-
rection Creek fork.

One night, in the winter of 1877 when the January thaw was on, the roads were almost impas-
sible, a certain lame gentleman who had a white nag named Kit and a buckboard, kindly agreed
to take three young ladies to a dance at “Le Claires Hall.”

This hall was wonderful and spacious. Two of the girls were obliged to sit on the buckboard
with their feet hangind [sic] down, praying their white slippers might not be spattered with mud.
When from the gloom of a misty, drizzly night there appeared two forms which followed them,
coming closer and closer. The girls moved back as far as they could, gathered in their white
slippered feet and held their breath, too scared to speak. Probably, made bold by the silence of
the girls, the two towering Indians came close to them and one reached out to touch the girl
nearest him. Yes, a scream rent the air in true tragedy style. The driver turned in his seat with
whip in hand just in time to catch a glimpse of a swift retreat.

There are a few still living at Medford who can remember seeing trives [sic] of Indians in their
was [sic] paint and bright blankets coming down the railroad track, some on ponies and others
walking. The children made themselves mighty scarce while they were in town.

It was in 1884 that two of the Tom Slais children disappeared and no trace was found until ten
years later, when the boy was found living with the Indians near Manitowoc. He was brought
home by his own father and remained with his own people at Gas several weeks when again he
disappeared returning to his Indian companions, much preferring their mode of living, which
by this time had become second nature to him.

The Indians were numerous in the early days near Westboro. It was not unusual to see a band
of about fifty or sixty Indians and squaws making their way to some reservation to take in the
harvest or some seeding dance. They were all traveling on foot, the squaws carrying guns, for
the Indians never work while their squaws have no work, so they had the squaws carry their
guns. Later they came in larger bands riding on ponies.

The last Indians which lived near Westboro came from the Dakotas, renting their lands on the
reservation, and squatting in the timber land of Wisconsin, where they could hunt and trap.

Mrs. Katherine Maurer, the first white woman who lived at Perkinstown tells us that although
there were many Indians around, they never troubled the white people.  And [sic] Indian trail
passed the little log house in which the Maurers lived and the Indians passing thru often came
in to get warm or to ask for matches, flour, bread, or tobacco. Mrs. Maurer tells us that her three
children always clung to her when the red men came in and although they did her no harm, she
was always scared to death when they walked in without knocking at the door.
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The Indians did not disturb the people around the vicinity of Stetsonville. They troubled none
of their friends. They traveled through on their way to Stevens Point, where they would receive
their pensions, given to them by the United States. They camped around Stetsonville but never
did any harm to the people.

Not very far from Redville the Black River winds its course. On the bank of the river an Indian
family lived years ago. These Indians were very fond of pork. They offered a neighbor a wagon
for a piece of pork; the two men exchanged. About a mile east of Redville, is an Indian mound,
which is near a creek, under a large pine tree. Tomahawks and Indian arrows were also found
in the vicinity of Redville.

The Chippewa Indians came to Jump River between 1890 and 1895. This village was where
Jump River now stands. There were ten or twelve log cabins where the Indians lived. They
raised Indian corn and potatoes. Their sugar bush, where they made maple sugar and syrup was
south of the S. M. & P. gravel pit. The basins they caught the sugar in were made of birch bark.
The funnels were made of wood. They cooked the sap in cast iron kettles, holding about two
pails of sap. Their cemetery was back of the depot. They did their trading in Medford. Their
trail was across Bear Creek, across Yellow River, at Hanson Dam, up thru Perkinstown to Lake
Esadore, and from there into Medford. They sold maple sugar and maple syrup and ginseng
root. In 1900 there was just one Indian family left.

It seems that the Indians around Chelsea seem to wander from place to place passing frequently
thru Chelsea. A few settled on farms. One was Mr. Whitefish. Until recently he lived on a farm
within the town. Many tribes passed thru Chelsea.

Whittlesey is said to be an Indian name meaning “Sand Bar”. Quite a few Indians still lived
here when the first settlers came here. Often they would go up to the white man and held out
their hands for some tobacco. Half a deer was often traded for a loaf of bread.

An Indian, named Whitefish, living near Perkinstown annually made a trip thru here with his
family collecting herbs and ginseng.

A few relics have been found near Interwald. One man found a tomahawk and a broad ax. There
are still a few Indians who pass by. Sometimes they are seen camping or feasting. They travel
for the purpose of selling their ponies, which they have running behind their rigs.

Indians were living near Diamond Lake. Some of the Indian arrows were found by farmers
while plowing and breaking their lands.

Ruesch wrote:78

Population and Immigration

In 1875, the population of Taylor County was 1,849. It increased to 2,311 in 1880; to 11,262 in
1900; and to 18,045 in 1920. While the population of 17,685 in 1930 showed a small decrease,
the succeeding decade witnessed an increase, so that by 1940 the population was 20,105. The
population recorded taken in the 1960 census was 17,698.

78 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, p. 6.



Of the population in 1880, more than two-thirds were native-born, and of these native-born
more than two-thirds were born in the State. Of the foreign-born population of 747 in 1880,
there were 238 from Germany and 214 from British America, with immigrants from Sweden
and Norway, England, Wales, Bohemia, Denmark, Ireland, Scotland and France having come
in smaller number. In 1900, slightly more than one-third of the population was foreign-born,
with Germans totaling 2,462 out of the total foreign-born population of 4,059.

In 1920, there were 4,308 foreign-born, approximately 24 percent of the total population, with
the great majority from these groups, consisting of German, 1,457; Poles, 991; Czechoslovak,
329; Austrians, 320; Swedes, 206; Norwegians, 187; and Russian, 162.  In 1930, the foreign-
born population was 3,092, or slightly more than 17 percent of the total population, with 1,110
Germans; 803 Frenchmen; 282 Czechoslovak; 146 Swedes; and 130 Norwegians, comprising
the largest portion of the foreign-born. 

Ruesch wrote, “The highest level of rural population was reached in 1920 and was due to the increased migration
to the northern counties after the desirable agricultural lands in southern Wisconsin had been acquired.”79

The author wrote,80

Taylor County is a study of contrasts in agricultural development. In the eastern section of the
county, which has long enjoyed the advantages of railroad transportation and good roads, you
see endless acres of fertile lands in the most advances [sic] stages of cultivation and along side
of growing crops, thousands of acres of non-productive, land which has yet to feel the point of
a plow.

“Taylor County has an area of over 965 square miles and less than half of the land is under cultivation.”81 In
1920, the density was about 19 people per square mile, although density would have varied depending on the
location within the County. In the year 2000, the County’s population shown on the County’s website was 19,680
or 20 people per square mile.

Ruesch wrote, “Taylor County belongs to the Colby Silt Loam group of the 10 major soil areas of Wisconsin.”82

The  County’s soil is a silty clay loam especially good for the production of all the native grasses like different
types of clover, timothy hay, sudan grass and all kinds of forage; all small grains like oats, wheat, barley, rye,
corn, buckwheat; beans, peas, potatoes, cabbage, millet.83 Ruesch said, “[t]he region is also characterized by
steep rolling hills good for pasturage.”84

The annual rainfall averages 30 to 36 inches.85 Winters are not too severe and summers are warm and pleasant.86206

The growing season is long enough to mature all the crops.87

79 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, p. 6.

80 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” in Dedication to the 8th grade of Taylor County of 1923, the county offi-

cials and The Taylor county Leader all of whom helped to furnish information for this booklet (n.p.: n.p., n.d.) n. pag.

81 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.

82 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, p. 6.

83 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.

84 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, p. 6.

85 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.

86 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.

87 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.
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Taylor County was backward in the development of its agricultural resources due to the lack of railroad facilities
and roads, except in the eastern part of the county, and lack of man-power.882Slowly the brush line was pushed
back in all directions which allowed the construction of new roads in all sections of the County, and with new
settlers came additional man-power to clear the land.89

Ruesch wrote:90

In 1880, there were 266 farms in Taylor County having a farm acreage of 29,246 and a farm
value of $200,050; farm implements and machinery were valued at $4,273 and farm livestock
at $24,961; oats led in production, with Indian corn, wheat, rye and barley ranking next in order.
By the turn of the century, there were 1,168 farms in Taylor County having an acreage of
103,565 and a farm value of $1,581,450; farm implements and machinery were valued at
$105,860 and farm livestock at $308,781.  By 1910 the number of farms had increased to 1,582
having a farm acreage of 634,240 and a farm value of $5,509,620 of which amount 58.8 percent
was the value of land; 23.9 percent the value of the buildings; 5.1 percent the value of the im-
plements and machinery, and 12.2 percent the value of the livestock. Among the crops produced,
oats, barley, rye, corn, wheat and buckwheat ranked in that order of importance. In 1930, there
were 2,464 farms in the county having a farm value of $13,844,133.

Taylor County in 1933 had the highest ratio of farm population to the total population of any
area in the State. In that year the farm income was $1,781,256 of which amount 72.2 percent
was supplied by livestock and livestock products, a little more than one-half of the 72.2 percent
coming from milk; the greatest acreage was in hay, with oats, corn, barley, rye, what [sic] and
buckwheat ranking next in that order. 
In 1936, the farm income was $3,165,971 livestock and livestock products supply 84.5 percent
of this amount and milk again supplying over one-half of this percentage; there were 3,253
farms in the County having a farm value of $10,737,586; the largest acreage continued to be in
hay, with oats, corn, barley, rye, wheat, and buckwheat following next in that order.

Manufacturing. In 1880, there were in Taylor County 7 manufacturing establishments having a capital invest-
ment of $152,000 and a production value of $287,700, the only products being manufactured being planed and
sawed lumber. By 1900 there were 35 manufacturing establishments having a capital investment of $1,728,592
and an annual production value of $2,152,671. In 1930, the county had 39 manufacturing establishments having
a capital investment of $2,639,927 and an annual production value of $5,069,701.

Education

Sources differ as to the first school taught in Taylor County, some saying it was a private school
taught in Medford by W. E. Lockerby, while others say it was a public school in Medford and
taught by Maurice Murphy of Winneconne in 1874. The annual report of the State Superinten-
dent of Public Instruction for 1875 indicated that there were 3 school districts in the county at
this time, having 2 schoolhouses and an enrollment of 58. In 1885, this had increased to 40
schools with an enrollment of 1,008.In 1905, there were 86 schools in Taylor County, including
2 high schools, and an enrollment of 3,353.  By 1915, this number had increased to 94 schools

88 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.

89 “Taylor County’s Agricultural Progress and Prospects,” n. pag.

90 Taylor County Register of Deeds Office, pp. 6-7.



with an enrollment of 3,752. In 1936, the schools of Taylor County had an enrollment of 4,548
and a school cost of $248,954.17.

The author wrote,91

The City of Medford is located at the junction of State Highways 13 and 64 and also on the
Ashland Division of the Soo Railroad which furnished direct connections between Milwaukee
and the Twin Lake ports of Superior and Duluth. Medford is favored in my respects. It is sur-
rounded by a splendid farming country -- one of the state’s most properous dairy sections.  High-
way 13 puts Medford on the main line of travel between the southern and northern sections of
the state and brings thousands of motorists through the city every day of the motoring season.
Highway 64 tapped the heart of Taylor County and will eventually be one of Wisconsin’s im-
portant east and west arteries of travel.

Medford’s commercial and industrial interests included saw and planing mills, veneer factory,
the second largest, co-operative creamery in the state, two banks, eight garages, three hotels,
splendid restaurant, two big hardware stores, two weekly newspapers, two drug stores, a marble
and granite works, feed mills, and in fact all lines of commercial endeavor to be found in a pro-
gressive business.

Medford has seven churches and one of the best high schools in this state. Paved streets, a city
park with dancing pavilion, and a tourist camping ground are also among the features that put
Medford on the map as an up-to-date city.

Carl Oscar And Nora Reinhold Move Their Family To Their New Home 

On September 27, 1919, Carl Oscar and Nora Reinhold purchased their farm in Medford Township three miles
north of the City of Medford, Taylor County, Wisconsin, including various personal property from John and
Rosa Mischler on land contract for $13,000.92 Apparently, Carl Oscar and Nora paid $6,500 down because on
October 29, 1919, Carl Oscar and Nora Reinhold signed a $6,500 mortgage for the farm with John Mischler
holding the mortgage.93213

The 1920 United States Census shows Oscar C Reinhold age 34, his wife Nora age 27, their daughters, Lucille
age 5, Hazel age 1 and their son, Carl age 2 2/12  living on a farm in Fairbank Township, Buchanan County, Iowa
and working on their own account.94 The farm is identified as a general farm. Oscar is identified as a farmer.95

The Census indicates Oscar and Nora are White, and both can read, write, and speak English.96 Lucille had no
education.97 Oscar was born in Illinois while Nora and all three children were born in Iowa.98 Oscar indicated
that his parents were both born in Sweden and spoke Swedish.99 Nora indicated that her father was born in New

91 “Medford --- The Capitol City,” in Dedication to the 8th grade of Taylor County of 1923, the county officials and The Taylor

County Leader all of whom helped to furnish information for this booklet (n.p.: n.p., n.d.) n. pag.

92 Warranty Deed, No. 66001, Vol. 67 of Deeds, p. 476, Register of Deeds, Taylor County, Wisconsin.

93 Mortgage, No. 65682, Vol. 39 of Mortgages, p. 444, Register of Deeds, Taylor County, Wisconsin.

94 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.

95 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.

96 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.

97 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.

98 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A

99 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.
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Jersey and her mother in Nebraska.100 The 1920 Census for Fairbank Township, Buchanan County, Iowa was
taken on January 26, 27 & 28, 1920.101

March 1 was always considered moving day for farmers moving from one farm to another during the time period
when Carl Oscar and Nora Reinhold were farming in Iowa. At that time, most farms in Wisconsin were owned
by the farmers operating the farm, but this was not the case in Iowa. In Iowa, many farms were operated by
farmers who rented the property.  As a result, many of these farmers moved a lot from one farm to another.
Hence, moving day was generally March 1.

On March 20, 1920, when Carl Oliver was two years old, Carl Oscar moved his family by train to Medford,
Wisconsin. The Reinhold family’s belongings and equipment were transported by boxcar. Upon arriving in Med-
ford, Herbert Hayward met the Reinhold family at the Medford train depot with a sled and horses. Carl Oscar
and his family stayed at the Herbert Hayward home until Carl Oscar’s new farm home was ready to move into.
Later, when the boxcar arrived, Carl Oscar moved his family’s belongings and equipment to their new farm. 

The 1920 Federal Census for Medford was taken on January 16, 1920. Carl Oscar and his family do not appear
on the 1920 Census in either the Township of Medford or the City of Medford because he and his family moved
to Medford on March 20, 1920.102

When Carl Oscar purchased the farm, the buildings consisted of a large two story house with a full basement,
large attic and three open porches; an eighty foot barn with no silo or milk house; a smaller sixty foot barn; a
windmill, a wood-shed and an out-house. None of the building had water or electricity. The farm fed and housed
about fourteen cows, several heifers, 2-3 horses, some hogs and the Reinhold family of five.

The large barn consisted of a 50 foot stable, 14 foot thresh-floor and 16 foot storage area for grain and straw.
Hay was stored above the stable where the cows, heifers and calves were kept. The  milk cows and young cattle
were kept in the large barn.

The smaller barn was 60 feet long. This barn is where the horses and other older live stock were kept, including
pigs. The barn had a 14 foot thresh-floor with stables on each side. Hay and grain were stored above the stables
in this barn.

The farm animals had to be watered daily by hand. All water was pumped by the windmill to a large outside
water tank in the cow yard. If there was no wind, water was pumped using a 1½ horse power John Deere gasoline
engine. In the winter, the animals were let out of the barns daily for exercise and to drink. However, the ice in
the water tank had to be broken so the animals could drink. 

This 80 acre farm had about 40 acres of tillable land. The other forty acres of non-tillable land were used as pas-
ture. The land was divided into 10 and 15 acre fields on which Carl Oscar grew grass, oats, corn and potatoes.

Carl Oscar brought machinery to the Wisconsin farm from Iowa when he moved. The equipment included a
horse drawn side-rake, corn planter, iron wheel manure spreader,103 an iron wheeled John Deere riding mower
with six foot sickle and a wooden high wheeled wagon. The wagon’s wheels were made of wood with a metal
band around the outside edge of the wheel.

100 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.

101 1920 United States Census Fairbank Township, Sheet No. A 13 A.

102 Sara Nuernberger, genealogical researcher, did not locate Carl Oscar Reinhold and his family in the 1920 United States Census

in either the Township of Medford or the City of Medford.

103 This manure spreader required a person to crank the apron – the spreader’s bottom — back after unloading the spreader before

the spreader could be loaded. This is also the manure spreader Josephine Reinhold is pictured shoveling manure into.


